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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
AUSTIN DIVISION
VORTEX, INC.
Plaintiff,
vs.
ROY ROSE, LISA ROSE, 304 GAS
STATION, LLC, MR. FUN’S, LLC and
ROSE & ROSE, INC.
Defendants

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

1:22-cv-882
CIVIL ACTION # ________________

JURY DEMANDED

PLAINTIFFS’ ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Vortex, Inc. (“Vortex”) respectfully alleges as follows for its original complaint
against Defendants Roy Rose, Lisa Rose, 304 Gas Station, LLC, Mr. Fun’s, LLC, and Rose &
Rose, Inc.:
NATURE OF THE CLAIMS
1.

This is an action for copyright infringement under 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq., false

designation of origin and unfair competition under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a); dilution of famous
marks under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c); counterfeiting under 15 U.S.C. § 1114; common law
trademark infringement and unfair competition under the laws of the State of Texas; and for
injury to business reputation and dilution of the distinctive quality of marks under TEX. BUS. &
COM. CODE ANN. §16.29.
2.

All causes of action are based on the same set of operative facts related to the

unlawful appropriation by Defendants of Vortex’s intellectual property rights associated with the
iconic motion picture “The Texas Chainsaw Massacre.” Without any authorization to do so (and
indeed, even after receiving a cease-and-desist letter instructing them not to do so), the
Defendants have intentionally exploited Vortex’s intellectual property rights for their own
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benefit––through the establishment and operation of a restaurant and curio shop in Bastrop,
Texas fashioned as a replica of the “WE Slaughter Barbecue” stand and gas station featured in
the film; and through the manufacture, distribution and/or sale of t-shirts, posters, masks,
smoking accessories, and other merchandise featuring images and marks related to The Texas
Chainsaw Massacre. The Defendants have distributed and sold their illicit products through a
chain of retail outlets owned by them in Texas and Ohio (including the aforementioned
restaurant/curio shop); various online marketplaces including eBay, Etsy, Facebook and
Instagram; and during an annual horror convention organized by the Defendants in Bastrop,
Texas known as the “Cult Classic Convention.” Vortex now brings this suit, seeking damages
and injunctive relief prohibiting the Defendants from further infringing its intellectual property
rights.
PARTIES
3.

Plaintiff Vortex, Inc. is a Texas Corporation with its principal place of business in

Austin, Texas.
4.

Defendant Roy Rose is an individual believed to be residing in Bastrop, Texas,

and upon information and belief may be served at his residence at 195 E. Clearview Cemetery
Rd., Bastrop, Texas 78602, or wherever he may be found.
5.

Defendant Lisa Rose is an individual believed to be residing in Bastrop, Texas,

and upon information and belief may be served at her residence at 195 E. Clearview Cemetery
Rd., Bastrop, Texas 78602, or wherever she may be found
6.

Defendant 304 Gas Station, LLC is a Texas Limited Liability Company, with its

principal place of business in Bastrop, Texas, and according to records maintained by the Texas
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Secretary of State, may be served through its registered agent Roy Rose, believed to be residing
at 195 E. Clearview Cemetery Rd., Bastrop, Texas 78602, or wherever he may be found.
7.

Defendant Mr. Fun’s, LLC is a Texas Limited Liability Company, with its

principal place of business in Bastrop, Texas, and according to records maintained by the Texas
Secretary of State, may be served through its registered agent Lisa Rose, believed to be residing
at 195 E. Clearview Cemetery Rd., Bastrop, Texas 78602, or wherever she may be found.
8.

Defendant Rose & Rose, Inc. is an Ohio Corporation, with its principal place of

business in Cleveland, Ohio, and according to records maintained by the Ohio Secretary of State,
may be served through its registered agent Lisa Rose, believed to be residing at 195 E. Clearview
Cemetery Rd., Bastrop, Texas 78602, or wherever she may be found.
JURISDICTION and VENUE
9.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 17 U.S.C. §§ 101

et seq. (the U.S. Copyright Act); and 28 U.S.C §§ 1331 (federal question); 1338 (copyrights and
trademarks); and 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) (supplemental jurisdiction over related state law claims).
10.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants, and venue in this

District is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1400(a), in that a substantial part of
the acts of infringement complained of herein occurred in this District, and because the
Defendants reside in this District and/or have sufficient minimum contacts with the State of
Texas that requiring them to respond to this action would not violate due process.
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
11.

All conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred.

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
-3-

Case 1:22-cv-00882 Document 2 Filed 09/01/22 Page 4 of 19

BACKGROUND FACTS
12.

In 1973, with the help of the newly-created Texas Film Commission, a scrappy

young film director named Tobe Hooper scratched together a $60,000 budget and commenced
production of The Texas Chainsaw Massacre––a groundbreaking horror film based on a
screenplay written by Hooper and his partner Kim Henkel. Shot in Central Texas with a skeletal
crew and cast of relatively unknown Central Texas actors, the film would go on to become one
of the largest grossing movies in Texas history––spawning a new genre of “slasher” horror films
and introducing audiences to a hulking, chainsaw-wielding film character known as
“Leatherface.” The film has since gained a reputation as one of the most influential horror films
in movie history and is widely regarded as a classic.
A.

Plaintiff’s Brand and Assets
13.

Plaintiff Vortex, Inc. is the owner of the federally registered copyrights in The

Texas Chainsaw Massacre and its derivatives (including movie posters and movie stills), as
reflected in the registration certificate RE 914-501, attached hereto as Exhibit A (hereinafter,
“Copyrighted Works”).
14.

Vortex is also the owner/administrator of various trademarks associated with the

film which are federally registered or for which federal registrations are pending, as reflected in
the portfolio attached hereto as Exhibit B––including standard character marks for “The Texas
Chainsaw Massacre,” “Texas Chainsaw,” and “Leatherface;” and the stylized marks set forth
below (hereinafter, “Marks”).
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15.

Over the course of almost 50 years, the Defendants have worked tirelessly to

establish The Texas Chainsaw Massacre franchise through sequels, prequels, a remake, comic
books and video games; and by licensing and utilizing the Copyrighted Works and Marks in
connection with a wide variety of ancillary products, including clothing, posters, photographs,
and comic books.
16.

One of Vortex’s earliest licenses involved a video game for the Atari 2600,

produced by Wizard Video Games in 1983. Thereafter and throughout the 1980s and early
1990’s, Vortex worked with then-distributor New Line Cinema to develop and license the brand
through a variety of other products, including t-shirts, posters and a series of Leatherface comic
books in 1991. When the New Line Cinema distribution agreement expired, Vortex took control
of merchandise and licensing––capitalizing on the release of a remake of The Texas Chainsaw
Massacre in 2003 (produced by Michael Bay), and expanding its licensing efforts into socks,
enamel pins, hats, magnets and bags.
17.

Over the next 20 years, Vortex continued to grow The Texas Chainsaw Massacre

franchise through concerted effort, clever and innovative branding, carefully selected strategic
licensing partnerships, and a steady pipeline of films––including The Texas Chainsaw Massacre:
The Beginning (2006), Texas Massacre 3-D (2013), Leatherface (2017) and a “50-years later”
sequel entitled Texas Chainsaw Massacre (2022) (which, at the time of its release on Netflix,
was ranked the #1 movie on the streaming platform).
18.

Today, Vortex maintains an ever-expanding portfolio of nearly 50 registered

Marks related to The Texas Chainsaw Massacre and its characters––across dozens of classes.
Vortex’s marquee licensing partnerships for products featuring the Marks include Mondo, Trick
or Treat Studios, Funko, N.E.C.A, Mezco Toyz, Sideshow Collectibles, Spencer Gifts, Hot
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Topic, McFarlane Toys, Fright Rags, and Activision. These strategic partnerships have taken
decades to develop, and have been integral in positioning The Texas Chainsaw Massacre––and
more specifically its villain Leatherface––as one of the “big four” characters in the horror film
genre.
19.

Merchandise related to The Texas Chainsaw Massacre has been manufactured,

marketed, and sold across almost every imaginable category of goods and products––including tshirts, socks, sweaters, sweatshirts, hats, underwear, jackets, shorts/pants, Halloween costumes,
masks, enamel pins, cups, mugs, action figures, posters, canvas prints, jewelry, wallets,
keychains, holiday ornaments, pillows, toy cars, bags, backpacks, skateboards, stickers, patches,
magnets, blankets, board games, and wall art.
19.

Vortex’s retail partners include a vast network of prominent brick-and-mortar

stores and online outlets, including Hot Topic, Spencer’s Gifts, Pacific Sunwear, and Walmart,
where Vortex has enjoyed prominent retail placement.
20.

As direct a result of Vortex’s substantial efforts, The Texas Chainsaw Massacre

and Leatherface are two of the most widely recognized marks in the film world and beyond.
Indeed, it is no exaggeration to say that the Marks have become “household names.”
B.

Defendants’ Infringing Activities
21.

Without Vortex’s consent (and in contravention of warnings set forth in a cease

and desist letter), the Defendants have for several years sourced, manufactured, imported, had
created, sold and/or offered to sell within the United States (including within this judicial
district) various products featuring reproductions, counterfeits, copies and/or colorable imitations
of Vortex’s Copyrighted Works and Marks, including posters, t-shirts, socks, buttons, pins,
stickers, magnets, pipes and rolling papers (hereinafter the “Infringing Goods”). The Defendants
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have advertised, offered and/or sold these Infringing Goods through a variety of outlets––
including a chain of 10 retail smoke shops in Ohio called the Glass House; a restaurant and curio
shop outside of Bastrop, Texas fashioned as a replica of the “WE Slaughter Barbecue” stand and
gas station in the original Texas Chainsaw Massacre;1 a smoke shop in Bastrop called “Mr.
Fun’s;” various online retail outlets, including eBay, Etsy, Facebook and Instagram; and during
an annual horror convention organized by the Defendants in Bastrop, Texas known as the “Cult
Classic Convention.”
22.

Several exemplars of the Infringing Goods are set forth below:

1

The building itself was used as a filming location in the film. It was subsequently purchased by
Roy and Lisa Rose in 2015, renovated––replete with the “W.E. Slaughter Barbecue” sign from
the film––and opened in 2016.
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23.

The Defendants have managed the distribution and sale of their Infringing Goods

through a spiderweb of closely-held companies formed by Roy and Lisa Rose. For instance, a
chain of ten retail smoke shops in Ohio called “The Glass House” appear to be operated by a
closely-held company called Rose & Rose, Inc., with Lisa and Roy Rose as the sole shareholders
(who upon information and belief reside in, and direct operations from, their residence in
Bastrop, Texas). Likewise, the Rose’s smoke shop in Bastrop Texas, Mr. Fun’s, appears to be
operated by a closely held Texas limited liability company called Mr. Fun’s, LLC, with Roy and
Lisa Rose as the sole members. Finally, The Gas Station appears to be operated by 304 Gas

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
-8-

Case 1:22-cv-00882 Document 2 Filed 09/01/22 Page 9 of 19

Station, LLC, with Roy and Lisa Rose as the sole members. Tellingly, the intended name of The
Gas Station (prior to opening) was the “Texas Chainsaw Massacre Gas Station,” and the original
name of 304 Gas Station, LLC was “Texas Chainsaw Massacre Gas Station, LLC.” The Gas
Station also features a replica of the “W.E. Slaughter Barbecue” sign that was affixed to the top
of the gas station in the original Texas Chainsaw Massacre, along with matching furniture, soda
machine, trash can, and a rolling cleaning bucket. In other words, The Gas Station appears to
have been established for the explicit purpose of invoking The Texas Chainsaw Massacre
franchise and infringing Vortex’s intellectual property rights.

The Original W.E. Slaughter Barbecue Gas Station

The Rose’s W.E. Slaughter Barbecue “Gas Station”
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C.

Plaintiff’s Discovery of Defendants’ Infringing Activities
24.

Vortex first became aware of the Defendants’ interest in The Texas Chainsaw

Massacre franchise on or about March 31, 2016, when its licensing/merchandising agent David
Imhoff forwarded a copy of a New York Daily News article reporting on Roy Rose’s intention to
open a “horror barbecue resort” outside of Bastrop, Texas––in the gas station originally featured
in the film. Imhoff thereafter contacted Rose to see if he would be interested in a working
relationship with the franchise. On April 15, 2016, Rose responded to Imhoff––audaciously
offering to “do a deal” if––and only if––Tobe Hooper or Kim Henkel would agree to sign
autographs at his restaurant once per year; and only so long as the Roses were allowed to recoup
their entire investment in the business before being required to pay any royalties for use of
Vortex’s Mark.
25.

On April 18, 2016, Vortex’s counsel Chuck Grigson responded to Rose’s offer––

advising him of Vortex’s rights in the Marks and instructing him to refrain from using “The
Texas Chainsaw Massacre” or any of its related Marks unless and until he acquired a negotiated
license to do so. Rose subsequently retained counsel to respond to Grigson, and a meeting was
held in May 2016––during which a potential business arrangement was discussed that would
begin with Vortex’s review and approval of a business plan, followed by an appropriate license
(assuming the parties came to terms). However, Rose never provided any such business plan,
nor did he seek a license for the use of Vortex’s intellectual property. He did, however, change
the name of the restaurant to “The Gas Station,” and began using a “disclaimer” on Facebook2––
which seemed to moot the issue. However, that circumspection would be short lived.

2

The disclaimer reads: “The Texas Chainsaw/ Massacre® and Letherface® [sic] are registered
trademarks of Vortex, Inc. The use of these trademarks is for descriptive purposes only. Vortex,
Inc. is not associated or affiliated with (THE GAS STATION) or the goods or services offered
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26.

In 2020, Vortex decided to investigate the Defendants’ annual “Cult Classic

Convention” in Bastrop, Texas, and thereupon discovered that the Defendants were engaged in
the distribution and sale of a number of Infringing Goods. Further investigation revealed that the
Defendants were also marketing, offering to sell, and in fact selling Infringing Goods through
The Gas Station, their chain of smoke shops in Ohio, and various online outlets including eBay,
Etsy, Facebook and Instagram.

Over the course of the next two years, Vortex carefully

documented Defendants’ marketing and sale of Infringing Goods, and to date, has catalogued a
list of at least 66 illicit items (as reflected in Exhibit C).
27.

Vortex now files this suit seeking all available remedies.
CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT I:
COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT

28.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.

29.

Vortex is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the Defendants, and each

of them, had access to the Copyrighted Works, including The Texas Chainsaw Massacre (which
was released in 1974), and various derivatives therefrom, including movie stills and movie
posters (hereinafter, the “Derivatives”).
30.

Vortex is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the Defendants, and each

of them, misappropriated content from The Texas Chainsaw Massacre and its Derivatives to
create, or to have created, products that are substantially similar to The Texas Chainsaw
Massacre and its Derivatives, and in many cases, are duplicate copies of those works.

by (THE GAS STATION). Vortex, Inc. does not sponsor or endorse any of our goods or
services.”
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31.

Vortex is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the Defendants, and each

of them, infringed Vortex’s copyrights by creating, making and/or developing copies and
derivative works from The Texas Chainsaw Massacre and its Derivatives, and/or distributing
those infringing products through their network of retail stores and on-line outlets.
32.

The above-stated acts by the Defendants, and each of them, violated Vortex’s

exclusive right to copy and to create derivative works from The Texas Chainsaw Massacre and
its Derivatives, and to distribute and sell those products.
33.

Upon information and belief, Defendants Roy Rose and Lisa Rose are jointly and

severally liable for any direct copyright infringement committed by their closely held companies
because they participated in the acts of infringement described herein and/or because they are the
dominant influences in those entities, and/or because they determined the policies that resulted in
the infringements described herein.
34.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ actions constituted willful

infringement of Vortex’s copyrights inasmuch as they knew, or had reason to know, that their
actions constituted copyright infringement; and/or because they acted with reckless disregard of
Vortex’s copyrights. For instance, the Defendants were specifically advised in 2016 of Vortex’s
rights in The Texas Chainsaw Massacre, and the need to obtain appropriate licensing before
using any of Vortex’s intellectual property. Despite that forewarning, the Defendants forged
ahead with their illegal business activities.
35.

As a result of the foregoing, Vortex is entitled to actual damages, and any

additional profits of the Defendants; or statutory damages of up to $150,000 per work infringed,
plus attorney’s fees and costs of court. 17 U.S.C. §§ 504, 505.
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COUNT II:
VICARIOUS COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT
36.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.

37.

In addition to, and/or in the alternative to direct infringement, Defendants Roy

Rose and Lisa Rose are jointly and severally liable for vicarious infringement because they had
the right and ability to supervise the infringing activities of their closely held companies, and the
practical ability to stop the infringement (by prohibiting the sale of infringing products); and
because they had a direct financial interest in the infringing activities by virtue of the revenues
generated by the sales of the infringing products and their equity interests in the closely held
companies, and the saved costs of licensing fees (had the infringing products been properly
licensed from Vortex).
38.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ actions constituted willful

infringement of Vortex’s copyrights inasmuch as they knew, or had reason to know, that their
actions constituted copyright infringement; and/or because they acted with reckless disregard of
Vortex’s copyrights. For instance, the Defendants were specifically advised in 2016 of Vortex’s
rights in the Texas Chainsaw Massacre, and for the need for them to obtain appropriate licensing
before using any of Vortex’s intellectual property. Despite that forewarning, the Defendants
forged ahead with their illegal business activities.
39.

As a result of the foregoing, Vortex is entitled to actual damages, and any

additional profits of the Defendants; or statutory damages of up to $150,000 per work infringed,
plus attorney’s fees and costs of court. 17 U.S.C. §§ 504, 505.
COUNT III:
FEDERAL TRADEMARK COUNTERFEITING AND INFRINGEMENT, 15 U.S.C. § 1114
40.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.
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41.

Vortex is the owner of the federally registered Marks, as set forth in more detail in

the foregoing paragraphs.
42.

The Marks are valid, protectable, and distinctive trademarks that Vortex has

continuously used to promote its products for almost five decades.
43.

The relevant purchasing public recognizes the Marks as originating from and/or

being approved by Vortex.
44.

The Defendants, without authorization from the Vortex, have used in commerce

spurious designations that are identical with, or substantially indistinguishable from, Vortex’s
registered Marks on goods covered by the registrations for the Marks, as reflected in Exhibits B
and C.
45.

The Defendants’ unauthorized use of counterfeit marks of the registered Marks on

and in connection with Defendants’ offers for sale in commerce is likely to cause confusion or
mistake in the minds of the public and, in particular, tends to, and does, falsely create the
impression that the products offered for sale by Defendants originated with, are authorized,
sponsored and/or approved by Vortex when, in fact, they are not.
46.

The Defendants’ unauthorized use of the Marks as set forth above is likely to: (a)

cause confusion, mistake and deception; (b) cause the public to believe that the products offered
for sale by the Defendants are the same as Vortex’s products, or that the products offered for sale
by the Defendants are authorized, sponsored, or approved by Vortex, or that the Defendants are
affiliated, connected, or associated with or in some way related to Vortex; and (c) result in the
Defendants unfairly benefiting from Vortex’s advertising and promotion, and profiting from the
reputation of the Vortex’s Marks, all to the substantial and irreparable injury of the public,
Vortex’s Marks and the substantial goodwill represented thereby.
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47.

The Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein was (and is) willful and intended to

(and is likely to) cause confusion, mistake, or deception as to the affiliation, connection, or
association of the Defendants with Vortex or its Marks.
48.

The Defendants actively, knowingly, and intentionally adopted and used the

Infringing Marks with the intent to trade on the goodwill of the Marks, cause confusion and
deception in the marketplace, and divert potential sales of authentic products to the Defendants.
49.

Roy and Lisa Rose’s acts were a moving, active, and conscious force behind

Defendants’ infringement of the Marks.
50.

The Defendants’ acts constitute willful trademark infringement in violation of

Section 32 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114.
51.

The Defendants’ actions constitute the use by them of one or more “counterfeit

marks” as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1116(d)(1)(B).
52.

The Defendants’ use in commerce of the counterfeit Marks has resulted in lost

profits to Vortex which are difficult to determine, caused considerable damage to the goodwill of
Vortex and its Marks, and diminished the brand recognition of the Marks by introducing
counterfeit products into the marketplace.
53.

By reason of the foregoing, Vortex is entitled to, among other relief, injunctive

relief, an award of statutory damages, and costs of the action under Sections 34 and 35 of the
Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116, 1117, together with prejudgment and post-judgment interest.
COUNT IV:
FALSE DESIGNATION OF ORIGIN AND
UNFAIR COMPETITION UNDER 15 U.S.C. § 1125
54.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.
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55.

The Defendants’ use of the Marks constitutes a false designation of origin which

is likely to deceive and, upon information and belief, has deceived customers and/or prospective
customers into believing that the Defendants’ line of products is that of Vortex and, as a result, is
likely to divert and has diverted customers away from Vortex.
56.

With knowledge of Vortex’s rights in its Marks, the Defendants continue to sell

products featuring the Marks, and continue to capitalize on the good name, reputation and
goodwill of Vortex.
57.

The Defendants’ acts, as alleged above, including their continued and

unauthorized use of the Marks, constitutes use of words, terms, names, symbols and false
designations of origin which are likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive as
to the affiliation, connection, or association of Vortex and Defendants, or as to the origin,
sponsorship, or approval of Defendants’ goods, services and commercial activities by Vortex, in
violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(A).
58.

The Defendants’ acts, as alleged above, including their continued use of one or

more Marks in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresent the nature, characteristics,
qualities, or geographic origin of Defendants’ goods, services, or commercial activities in
violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B).
59.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ unfair competition and passing off

has been willful and deliberate, and designed specifically to trade upon the consumer goodwill
created and enjoyed by Vortex for Defendants’ profit.
60.

Vortex’s consumer goodwill is of enormous value, and Vortex is suffering and

will continue to suffer irreparable harm if the Defendants’ unfair competition and passing off as
to the infringing merchandise is allowed to continue.
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61.

Roy and Lisa Rose’s acts were a moving, active, and conscious force behind

Defendants’ unfair competition and passing off.
62.

The Defendants’ unfair competition and passing off has continued and will likely

continue unless enjoined by this Court.
63.

Vortex is entitled to a permanent injunction against the Defendants, as well as all

other remedies available under the Lanham Act, including but not limited to compensatory
damages, treble damages, disgorgement of profits, and costs and attorneys’ fees.
COUNT V:
DILUTION UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1125(C) AND TEXAS, TEX. BUS. & COMM. CODE, § 16.29
64.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.

65.

As a result of Vortex’s aforesaid extensive use and promotion, its Marks are

famous marks in the relevant industry and became famous prior to the Defendants’ use of such
Marks or colorable imitations thereof.
66.

The Defendants’ aforesaid uses of the Marks dilute and are likely to continue to

dilute the distinctive quality of those Marks, in violation of the anti-dilution law of the United
States, 15 U.S.C. §1125(c).
67.

The Defendants’ aforesaid acts are likely to dilute the distinctive quality of

Vortex’s Marks and injure Vortex’s business reputation, in violation of the anti-dilution law of
the State of Texas, Tex. Bus. & Comm. Code, § 16.29.
68.

Roy and Lisa Rose’s acts were a moving, active, and conscious force behind

Defendants’ dilution of the Marks.
COUNT VI:
COMMON LAW TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT
69.

Vortex hereby re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing paragraphs.
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70.

The acts of the Defendants complained of herein constitute willful trademark

infringement in violation of the common law of the State of Texas.
DEMAND FOR JURY
73.

Vortex asserts his rights under the Seventh Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

and demands, in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, a trial by jury on all issues.
PRAYER
WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff Vortex, Inc. prays that:
(a)

The Defendants, their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all other
persons in active concert or participation with them, be enjoined from (1) all use
of the Marks, (2) all use of any products containing any of the Marks and/or any
other mark or design that is confusingly similar to, or that is likely to dilute, the
Marks, (3) any attempt to retain any part of the goodwill misappropriated from
Vortex, and (4) any other acts that violate Vortex’s trademark rights;

(b)

The Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and
other persons who are in active concert or participation with any of them, be
required to deliver up and destroy (1) all Infringing Goods, (2) any other products
containing any of the Marks, (3) all packaging, signage, advertisements, internet
postings and advertisements for those products, and (4) any other materials
bearing or using the Marks, and any other mark or design that is confusingly
similar to, or likely to dilute, the Marks;

(c)

The Defendants be ordered to file with this Court and to serve upon Vortex,
within thirty (30) days after the entry and service on Defendants of an injunction,
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a report in writing and under oath setting forth in detail the manner and form in
which they have complied with the injunction;
(d)

Vortex be awarded all monetary remedies to which it is entitled, including but not
limited to all profits realized by Defendants (trebled and adjusted upward as the
Court deems just) under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a)-(b);

(e)

Vortex be awarded statutory damages, if elected, under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(c);

(f)

An award of actual damages under 17 U.S.C. § 504(b), or statutory damages
under 17 U.S.C. § 504(c);

(g)

Vortex recover its reasonable and necessary attorney fees;

(h)

Vortex recover the costs of this action, and prejudgment and post-judgment
interest; and

(i)

Vortex recover such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate.
Dated September 1, 2022.
Amini & Conant, LLP
408 West 11th Street, Fifth Floor
Austin, Texas 78701
t: (512) 222-6883
f: (512) 900-7967
service@aminiconant.com
By: /s/ R. Buck McKinney
R. Buck McKinney
Texas Bar No. 00784572
buck@aminiconant.com
Neema Amini
Texas Bar No. 24068915
neema@aminiconant.com
R. Alex. Conant
Texas Bar # 24074061
alex@aminiconant.com
Counsel for Plaintiff

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT
- 19 -

